69516-9 BEC'D

OCT 222013

King County Prosecutor Appellate Unit

COA NO. 69516-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

JERRY TOWNSEL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Dean S. Lum, Judge

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | Page |
|----|--|
| A. | ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR |
| | <u>Issues Pertaining To Assignments Of Error</u> |
| B. | STATEMENT OF THE CASE |
| | a. Procedural Facts |
| | b. O'Keefe's Testimony |
| | c. Townsel's Testimony |
| | d. Neighbor Observations and Owner Intervention |
| | e. Investigation and Aftermath |
| | f. Defense Theory |
| C. | ARGUMENT9 |
| | PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED TOWNSEL OF HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL |
| | a. The Prosecutor Diminished The Burden Of Proof By Comparing The Jury's Decision To Decisions Made In Everyday Life |
| | b. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct In Disparaging Defense Counsel And Townsel's Right To Present A Defense |
| | c. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct In Appealing To The Emotions Of The Jury |
| | d. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct In Expressing A Personal Opinion About Townsel's Credibility 18 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

| e. Reversal Of The Convictions Is Required Because The Cumulative Misconduct Was Prejudicial And Impervious To Curative Instruction |
|---|
| f. In The Alternative, Counsel Was Ineffective In Failing To Object To The Misconduct Or Request Curative Instruction 24 |
| 2. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING TOWNSEL'S REQUEST FOR NEW COUNSEL IN THE ABSENCE OF ADEQUATE INQUIRY |
| a. Townsel Attempted To Inform The Court About His Concerns, But The Court Did Not Probe Into The Matter. |
| b. The Standard Of Review And Requisite Factors In Determining Whether Trial Court Abused Its Discretion. |
| c. Extent Of Inquiry |
| d. <u>Timeliness</u> |
| e. Extent Of Conflict |
| f. The Remedy Is Reversal Of The Convictions Or, In The Alternative, Remand For An Evidentiary Hearing 40 |
| 3. THE CONVICTIONS FOR FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING AND FIRST DEGREE ASSAULT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY |
| CONCLUSION50 |

D.

| Page |
|---|
| WASHINGTON CASES |
| <u>In re Detention of Gaff,</u> 90 Wn. App. 834, 954 P.2d 943 (1998) |
| <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Fletcher,</u> 113 Wn.2d 42, 776 P.2d 114 (1989) |
| <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann,</u> 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) |
| <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Orange,</u> 152 Wn.2d 795, 100 P.3d 291 (2004) |
| <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson,</u> 142 Wn.2d 710, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) |
| State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1002, 245 P.3d 226 (2010) |
| <u>State v. Bautista-Caldera,</u> 56 Wn. App. 186, 783 P.2d 116 (1989), <u>review denied,</u> 114 Wn.2d 1011, 790 P.2d 169 (1990) |
| <u>State v. Belgarde,</u> 110 Wn.2d 504, 755 P.2d 174 (1988) |
| <u>State v. Brett,</u> 126 Wn.2d 136, 892 P.2d 29 (1995) |
| <u>State v. Fisher,</u> 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) |
| <u>State v. Case,</u> 49 Wn.2d 66, 298 P.2d 500 (1956) |

| Page |
|--|
| WASHINGTON CASES |
| <u>State v. Charlton,</u> 90 Wn.2d 657, 585 P.2d 142 (1978) |
| <u>State v. Cross</u> , 156 Wn.2d 580, 132 P.3d 80 (2006) |
| <u>State v. Davenport,</u> 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984) |
| <u>State v. DeRyke,</u> 110 Wn. App. 815, 41 P.3d 1225 (2002), <u>aff'd,</u> 149 Wn.2d 906, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003) |
| <u>State v. Fisher,</u> 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) |
| <u>State v. Fleming,</u> 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996), review denied, 131 Wn.2d 1018, 936 P.2d 417 (1997) |
| <u>State v. Freeman,</u> 153 Wn.2d 765, 108 P.3d 753 (2005) |
| <u>State v. Griffith,</u> 91 Wn.2d 572, 589 P.2d 799 (1979) |
| State v. Horton, 116 Wn. App. 909, 68 P.3d 1145 (2003) |
| <u>State v. Hughes,</u> 166 Wn.2d 675, 212 P.3d 558 (2009) |
| <u>State v. Ish,</u> 170 Wn.2d 189, 241 P.3d 389 (2010) |

| Page |
|---|
| WASHINGTON CASES |
| <u>State v. Jones,</u> 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) |
| <u>State v. Johnson,</u> 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010), <u>review denied,</u> 171 Wn.2d 1013, 249 P.3d 1029 (2011) |
| <u>State v. Jury,</u> 19 Wn. App. 256, 576 P.2d 1302, <u>review denied,</u> 90 Wn.2d 1006 (1978) |
| <u>State v. Kier,</u> 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008) |
| <u>State v. Kyllo,</u> 166 Wn.2d 856, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) |
| State v. Lindsay, 171 Wn. App. 808, 288 P.3d 641 (2012), review granted, 177 Wn.2d 1023, 303 P.3d 1064 (2013) 12, 14, 19-21, 48 |
| <u>State v. Majors,</u> 82 Wn. App. 843, 919 P.2d 1258 (1996), review denied, 130 Wn.2d 1024, 930 P.2d 1230 (1997) |
| <u>State v. Mutch,</u> 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011) |
| <u>State v. Neidigh,</u> 78 Wn. App. 71, 95 P.2d 423 (1995) |
| <u>State v. Potter,</u> 31 Wn. App. 883, 645 P.2d 60 (1982) |

| Page |
|---|
| WASHINGTON CASES |
| <u>State v. Powell,</u> 62 Wn. App. 914, 816 P.2d 86 (1991), review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013, 824 P.2d 491 (1992) |
| <u>State v. Reed,</u> 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984) |
| <u>State v. Reichenbach,</u> 153 Wn.2d 126, 101 P.3d 80 (2004) |
| <u>State v. Sargent,</u> 40 Wn. App. 340, 698 P.2d 598 (1985) |
| <u>State v. Schaller,</u> 143 Wn. App. 258, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007), review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1015, 195 P.3d 88 (2008) |
| <u>State v. Taylor,</u> 90 Wn. App. 312, 950 P.2d 526 (1998) |
| <u>State v. Thomas,</u> 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) |
| State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 290 P.3d 996 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1023, 299 P.3d 1172 (2013) |
| <u>State v. Thorgerso</u> n, 172 Wn.2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) |
| <u>State v. Tvedt,</u> 153 Wn.2d 705, 107 P.3d 728 (2005) |
| <u>State v. Varga,</u> 151 Wn.2d 179, 86 P.3d 139 (2004) |

WASHINGTON CASES State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 265 P.3d 191 (2011), remanded for reconsideration on other grounds, 164 Wn. 724, 295 P.3d 728 (2102), affirmed on remand, 173 Wn. App. 1027 (2013), State v. Warren. 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 2007, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1102 (2009) .14, 17, 19, 21, 25 FEDERAL CASES Bland v. Cal. Dep't of Corrections, 20 F.3d 1469 (9th Cir. 1994), overruled on other grounds by Blockburger v. United States, Brown v. Craven, Brown v. Ohio, Brubaker v. Dickson, Bruno v. Rushen,

Crane v. Kentucky,

| Page |
|---|
| FEDERAL CASES |
| Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. 756, 107 S. Ct. 3102, 97 L. Ed. 2d 618 (1987) |
| <u>Hamilton v. Ford,</u> 969 F.2d 1006 (11th Cir. 1992) |
| <u>Schell v. Witek,</u> 218 F.3d 1017 (9th Cir. 2000) |
| <u>Sizemore v. Fletcher,</u> 921 F.2d 667 (6th Cir. 1990) |
| <u>Strickland v. Washington,</u> 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984) |
| United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772 (9th Cir. 2001) |
| <u>United States v. D'Amore,</u> 56 F.3d 1202 (9th Cir. 1995) |
| <u>United States v. Garcia,</u> 517 F.2d 272 (5th Cir. 1975) |
| United States v. Garcia–Jasso, 472 F.3d 239 (5th Cir. 2006) |
| <u>United States v. McClendon,</u> 782 F.2d 785 (9th Cir. 1986) |
| <u>United States v. McKoy,</u> 771 F.2d 1207 (9th Cir. 1985) |
| <u>United States v. Moore,</u> 159 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 1998) |

| Page |
|---|
| FEDERAL CASES |
| <u>United States v. Nguyen,</u> 262 F.3d 998 (9th Cir. 2002) |
| <u>Washington v. Hofbauer,</u> 228 F.3d 689, 700 (6th Cir. 2000) |
| OTHER STATE CASES |
| <u>People v. Marsden,</u> 2 Cal.3d 118, 465 P.2d 44 (Cal. 1970) |
| <u>Walker v. State</u> , 790 A.2d 1214 (Del. 2002) |
| RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES |
| Chapter 9A.40 RCW |
| CrR 3.5 |
| RAP 12.241 |
| RCW 9A.04.110(4)(c) |
| RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a) |
| RCW 9A.40.010(1) |
| RCW 9A.40.010(6) |
| RCW 9A.40.020(1)(c) |
| RCW 9A.40.020(1)(d) |

| Page |
|--------------------------------------|
| ULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES |
| CW 9.94A.510 |
| CW 9.94A.515 |
| /ash. Const. art. I, § 5 |
| .S. Const. amend. VI |
| .S. Const. amend. XIV |
| /ash. Const. art. I, § 3 |
| Vash. Const. art. I, § 9 |
| /ash. Const. art. I, § 22 |

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Prosecutorial misconduct violated appellant's due process right to a fair trial.
- Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance in failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct.
- The court violated appellant's right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution in failing to appoint new counsel.
- The convictions for assault and kidnapping constitute double jeopardy.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- Whether the prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct in equating the reasonable doubt standard with an everyday decision, disparaging defense counsel and right to present a defense, appealing to emotion, and expressing a personal opinion on appellant's credibility?
- 2. Whether counsel was ineffective in failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct where no legitimate reason justified the failure?
- 3. Whether the court erred in failing to appoint new counsel due to inadequate inquiry into the extent of appellant's conflict with his attorney and a breakdown in communication?

4. Whether the assault and kidnapping convictions violate double jeopardy because the evidence required to support a conviction of one crime was sufficient to warrant a conviction upon the other?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural Facts

The State charged Jerry Townsel with first degree kidnapping (count I), first degree assault (count II), felony harassment (count III), and second degree rape (count IV), all designated as domestic violence offenses. CP 33-36. The State further alleged a deliberate cruelty aggravator for counts I and II and an ongoing pattern of abuse aggravator for all counts. CP 33-36. Co-defendant Daryl Jones was tried together with Townsel as an accomplice to the kidnapping charge. CP 33.

The jury found Townsel guilty of first degree kidnapping and first degree assault. CP 159-60. The jury acquitted Townsel of harassment and was unable to reach a verdict on the rape charge. CP 161; 14RP¹ 11-12. The jury did not agree on any of the special verdicts. 14RP 11. The court sentenced Townsel to a total of 286 months confinement. CP 171. This appeal follows. CP 180-90.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - 6/19/12; 2RP - 6/20/12; 3RP - 6/21/12; 4RP - 6/25/12; 5RP - 6/26/12; 6RP - 6/27/12; 7RP - 6/28/12; 8RP - 7/2/12; 9RP - 7/3/12; 10RP - 7/5/12; 11RP - 7/9/12; 12RP - 7/10/12; 13RP - 7/11/12; 14RP - 7/16/12; 15RP - 9/28/12.

b. O'Keefe's Testimony

Roxanne O'Keefe is a long time methamphetamine addict. 9RP 16-18, 25, 115. She was diagnosed with drug-induced schizophrenia. 9RP 24-25. Meth makes her psychotic. 9RP 124. She hears voices, hallucinates and becomes paranoid, believing people are trying to kill her. 9RP 25-27, 49, 106-07, 109-10.

Come October 2011, O'Keefe was homeless. 9RP 28. She met Townsel at a park and the two started smoking meth together. 9RP 29, 31. They had consensual sex. 9RP 30. Townsel introduced O'Keefe to Jones. 9RP 33. They went to a vacant house at about 11 p.m. on November 2, where they smoked meth. 9RP 47, 50. O'Keefe started rapping and believed Townsel wanted to kill her to steal her material. 9RP 51, 130-31.

Townsel told her to go into the bathroom. 9RP 52-53. Once there, Townsel told her that he thought she was trying to kill him. 9RP 54. O'Keefe was scared and nervous that he was going to kill her. 9RP 55. She decided to put on makeup and hairspray. 9RP 55, 131. She pleaded with him to leave the bathroom. 9RP 56, 86-87. He said no. 9RP 56. He told her to turn around and pull her pants down. 9RP 57. Townsel penetrated her vagina with his penis. 9RP 59.

Townsel hit her in the face while in the bathroom. 9RP 61-62. She tried to crawl away and he grabbed her. 9RP 62-63. She managed to get to the kitchen, where he tried to gouge her eyes out. 9RP 62-65.

She wound up back in the bathroom, fighting and wrestling with him. 9RP 67-68. Overall, she tried to leave the bathroom a number of times but Townsel stopped her. 9RP 74, 160. O'Keefe broke the bathroom mirror tried to stab Townsel in the neck in an effort to protect herself. 9RP 68, 72. She tried to stick screws in his eyes. 9RP 151. She scratched his face. 9RP 172. At some point they fought over a hammer. 9RP 132. He pushed her against a wall. 9RP 168.

Townsel told her the only way out was for her to strangle him and told her to do so. 9RP 69-70. She tried to strangle him with a pair of pants that he handed her. 9RP 70-71. He bit her on the wrist. 9RP 72-73. When she woke up, he was gnawing on her head. 9RP 73, 90, 144. He told her he wanted to taste her blood. 9RP 73. He told her to fill up the bathtub, get in, and give him a cup of bloody water. 9RP 73-74. She did so and he drank it. 9RP 74. He got into the tub with her and cut his wrists. 9RP 79. She thought he was a vampire. 9RP 78. She put a crucifix in her vagina. 9RP 81-82.

When the sun came up, Townsel directed her to clean up the bathroom. 9RP 89. Townsel brought her into the bedroom, where she

slept for a day. 9RP 85, 89, 92, 95. The two lay down next to one another. 9RP 92-93. Townsel told her she was not leaving. 9RP 156-57. From start to finish, Townsel never left her alone. 9RP 90, 98.

c. Townsel's Testimony

Townsel was a drug addict. 11RP 118. Heroin, his drug of choice, has a sedative effect on him. 10RP 108, 120, 122. He was homeless during the latter half of 2011. 10RP 110. Jones invited Townsel and O'Keefe to squat at a house he knew about in the Capitol Hill area of Seattle. 11RP 13-14. They smoked meth at the house and Townsel also did heroin. 11RP 15-16. O'Keefe followed Townsel to the bathroom. 11RP 16, 18. She smoked some more meth and he did some more heroin. 11RP 18, 21.

O'Keefe talked about being set up and said "this is a bloodbath for witches." 11RP 21. Townsel started nodding off, feeling the effects of the heroin. 11RP 22-23. O'Keefe told him there was a hit out on him. 11RP 22. Townsel nodded off again. 11RP 23. When he came to, she was strangling him with a cord. 11RP 23-24, 33. In his confusion, Townsel initially thought Jones was strangling him. 11RP 24. Townsel banged around the bathroom and the house with the person on his back. 11RP 24. He did whatever he could to get the attacker off. 11RP 119-20. He eventually backed into a wall and realized it was O'Keefe when she

grunted. 11RP 24. The injuries he caused were the result of him trying to get her off his back. 11RP 123.

O'Keefe told him "You're going to die, mother fucker." 11RP 24. Townsel shook her off his back. 11RP 24. She ran at him and hit him in the chest with the fork end of a hammer. 11RP 24-25. Townsel grabbed the hammer and threw it aside. 11RP 25. She ran for the hammer and Townsel tackled her. 11RP 25. He held onto her, telling her to stop and that she was high. 11RP 25-26. He nodded out again. 11RP 26.

Townsel thought O'Keefe was trying to kill him for drugs. 11RP 54, 139-40. He claimed self-defense. 11RP 93. He told a detective that she was as strong as him plus one more guy. 11RP 105. He believed she had been smoking sherm. 11RP 105, 109-10.

At some point, O'Keefe said several times "I've gotta get out of here" and then "no" while she was smoking meth. 11RP 30-31. Townsel told her to chill out or leave. 11RP 31, 113. He denied having sexual intercourse with her at the house. 11RP 31, 68-69, 71. He had sex with her earlier that morning. 11RP 71. He denied gouging her eyes, biting her, or sucking her blood. 11RP 28-29. He also denied punching her, but he head butted her when she was on his back and he swung back at her several times. 11RP 29. He did not intend to harm O'Keefe, but believed he caused some of her injuries. 11RP 117, 123, 145. When he woke up

from his drug-induced sleep and saw O'Keefe, he felt scared because he had not known she had been harmed to such an extent. 11RP 26-27, 148.

d. Neighbor Observations and Owner Intervention

In the early morning hours, a person next door heard male and female voices, a woman's screams followed by conversation, and thumping or banging noises. 7RP 106-11, 123-24. At around 5 a.m., she heard a woman loudly saying "I've got to get out of here. I've got to get out of here" and then "Never mind, never mind, it's okay, I'll stay. I'm staying." 7RP 113, 119, 124, 129-30.

On November 4, 2011 at 3 p.m., Mr. Johnson, the property owner, noticed Jones in front of the vacant house. 5RP 101-02. The owner went inside the house and saw Townsel and O'Keefe lying awake in a sleeping bag. 5RP 104-05. She looked badly beaten. 5RP 105.

e. Investigation and Aftermath

Police arrived to find Townsel, Jones and O'Keefe inside. 6RP 111-12. There was blood in the bathroom and kitchen. 6RP 166-74; 7RP 24-34, 73. A wallboard was damaged and the bathroom mirror was broken. 6RP 173-74; 7RP 42-43. A hammer was found. 7RP 40-41.

O'Keefe's face was swollen and bruised. 7RP 149. She had additional bruising on many parts of her body. 7RP 149-50; 8RP 38-39, 43. Her arms had multiple lacerations. 7RP 150. Her eyes displayed

conjunctival hemorrhages. 8RP 31, 46-47, 173. She had a broken jaw and loose or missing teeth. 8RP 32, 47, 149, 170. She sustained a nasal fracture and subtle orbital fractures. 8RP 166-69, 169. The top of her head was bleeding. 8RP 132. There was a wound to the forearm, with a tendon exposed. 5RP 128-31; 8RP 43. It was produced by a sharp object, but probably not teeth. 8RP 160-62, 182. Surgery was performed to repair two lacerated tendons on O'Keefe's right hand. 5RP 124-27.

Townsel had lacerations on the side of his neck and face and scratches on his wrist. 8RP 27, 29. A medical examiner described the cuts as superficial. 8RP 146-47, 149-51, 154, 184.

In a police interview at the hospital, O'Keefe referred to vampires, the house being haunted, voices upstairs that were going to get her, Townsel being a member of the Taliban, Keanu Reeves breaking a mirror, dead bodies in Capitol Hill restaurants, blood baths on Capitol Hill, and Townsel taking her to a cave where there was a bucket of blood. 8RP 34-35, 79-81. She was diagnosed with psychosis and methamphetamine dependence. 6RP 16-17, 20. Meth can cause people to experience symptoms associated with paranoid-type schizophrenia. 6RP 19.

f. Defense Theory

The defense theory was that O'Keefe was an unreliable witness due to her severe drug and mental health problems. 13RP 8-11, 16-23, 26-31,

34-37, 42. The defense argued and received instruction on self-defense to the assault charge. 13RP 31-34, 40-42; CP 120, 122-24. In addition, the defense received instructions on the lesser charges of second degree kidnapping and second degree assault. 13RP 40; CP 110-15, 125-29.

C. ARGUMENT

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