NO. 69516-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

ν.

JERRY UVARIUS TOWNSEL,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE DEAN LUM

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Before trial resumed the next day, Townsel told Flora not to communicate with him anymore. 6/21/12 RP 2, 8. He also refused to come to court. Id. at 2, 8. A "drag order" was then issued. Id. at 8.

When approached at the jail with the drag order, Townsel agreed to come to court, but he refused to dress in courtroom attire. <u>Id.</u> at 11. Once in the courtroom, Townsel informed the court that he would refuse to be quiet while court was in session. <u>Id.</u> at 11. When the court attempted to inform Townsel of his right to be present during trial, and to explain trial procedures, Townsel interjected, "I'm fixing to start being disruptive from here on out. You can put a gag whatever. I'm not having this cat represent me. I'm not going to be quiet. You can do the gag, you can lock me down, whatever. I'm not going to be quiet, as simple as that." <u>Id.</u> at 15. Townsel continued to be disruptive until the court called for a recess. <u>Id.</u> at 15-26.

The court noted that Townsel's disruptive behavior was clearly "tactical and purposeful." <u>Id.</u> at 26. The court stated that Townsel would intentionally speak over the prosecutor, his own attorney and the judge when he did not like what they were saying, but when he agreed with what they were saying, he would remain quiet. <u>Id.</u> at 27. Townsel then made the decision to voluntarily absent himself from any further proceedings except when he testified. <u>Id.</u> He was brought to court every morning to ensure that he was voluntarily absenting himself and to inform him that he could stay for trial if he so desired. See, e.g., 6/26/12 RP 3-4.

b. The Court's Proper Exercise Of Discretion.

Under the Sixth Amendment, in certain situations, a trial court may be constitutionally required to appoint an indigent defendant new counsel.

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied,
523 U.S. 1008 (1998). However, an indigent defendant does not possess a right to have the counsel of his choice. Id. Rather, an indigent defendant who is dissatisfied with appointed counsel "must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant." Id. at 734. "Attorney-client conflicts justify the grant of a substitution motion only when counsel and defendant are so at odds as to prevent presentation of an adequate defense." Id.

Factors the trial court will consider in deciding to grant or deny a motion to substitute counsel are (1) the reasons given for the dissatisfaction, (2) the court's own evaluation of counsel, and (3) the effect of any substitution upon the scheduled proceedings. <u>Id.</u>

The constitution does not guarantee a happy, completely harmonious or "meaningful relationship" between a defendant and counsel. Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 13-14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 75 L. Ed. 2d 610 (1983) (After a unilateral falling out with counsel, Slappy refused to participate in his defense – substitution of counsel not warranted). A defendant's general loss of confidence or trust in counsel is not sufficient grounds to warrant the substitution of counsel. Stenson, at 734; State v. Varga, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004). It is only where the "relationship between lawyer and client completely collapses, [that] the refusal to substitute new counsel violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel." Stenson, at 722. But there is a difference between a complete collapse and mere lack of accord. Slappy, 461 U.S. at 13-14; State v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 606, 132 P.3d 80, cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1022 (2006). Counsel and the defendant must be at such odds as to prevent presentation

¹⁹ The purpose of providing assistance of counsel is to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial, thus, the appropriate inquiry focuses on the adversarial process, not on the accused's relationship with his lawyer as such. The essential aim of the Sixth Amendment is to guarantee an effective advocate for each criminal defendant rather than to ensure that a defendant will inexorably be represented by the lawyer whom he prefers. Stenson, at 725-26 (citing Slappy, 461 U.S. at 3-4).

of an adequate defense. <u>State v. Schaller</u>, 143 Wn. App. 258, 268, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007), <u>rev. denied</u>, 164 Wn.2d 1015 (2008).

Of particular importance, "[i]t is well settled that a defendant is not entitled to demand a reassignment of counsel on the basis of a breakdown in communications where he simply refuses to cooperate with his attorneys."

Schaller, at 271 (citing Harding v. Davis, 878 F.2d 1341, 1344 n.2 (11th Cir.1989) ("[A]n accused cannot force the appointment of new counsel by simply refusing to cooperate with his attorney, notwithstanding the attorney's competence and willingness to assist.")). 20

In determining whether a trial court properly denied a defendant's motion to substitute counsel, a reviewing court will consider (1) the nature and extent of the alleged conflict, (2) the adequacy of the court's inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. Stenson, at 723-24. Still, the decision as to whether a defendant's dissatisfaction with counsel is meritorious and justifies the appointment of new counsel is a matter within the sound

²⁰ Generally, no intentional act by a defendant will require substitution of counsel. For example, the filing of a bar complaint against counsel does not by itself create a conflict sufficient to require substitution. State v. Sinclair, 46 Wn. App. 433, 437, 730 P.2d 742 (1986), rev. denied, 108 Wn.2d 1006 (1987). The threat of a lawsuit or the threat to physically harm counsel by itself does not create a sufficient conflict. United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158 (9th Cir.1998). If intentional acts by a defendant required substitution of counsel, then any defendant could create a conflict requiring substitution at will simply by taking one of these actions. Id.; see also State v. Fualaau, 155 Wn. App. 347, 365, 228 P.3d 771 (the defendant assaulted counsel in open court, insufficient by itself to obtain new counsel), rev. denied, 169 Wn.2d 1023 (2010); State v. Stark, 48 Wn. App. 245, 253, 738 P.2d 684 (court rejects argument that new counsel must be appointed when a defendant alleges counsel is ineffective), rev denied, 109 Wn.2d 1003 (1987).

discretion of the trial court. <u>Id.</u> at 733. While reasonable minds may disagree with a trial court's ruling, that is not the standard on review. <u>State v. Willis</u>, 151 Wn.2d 255, 264, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004). To prevail on appeal, a defendant must prove that no reasonable judge would have ruled as the trial court did. <u>State v. Robtoy</u>, 98 Wn.2d 30, 42, 653 P.2d 284 (1982).

The situation here arose out of Townsel's misunderstanding of how his medical records were obtained by the State, and his reaction to the court's ruling on his motion to substitute counsel that occurred on June 11, 2012. In his written motion to substitute counsel, Townsel stated that the medical records situation is what the "ongoing conflict" was all about. CP 30. When his motion was heard on June 11, just a week before trial, Townsel was asked if there was anything else he wanted to add, to which he indicated there was not. 6/11/12 (morning) RP 3. It was then explained to Townsel that his factual assumptions were incorrect, that the State did not obtain his records via a subpoena with Flora's knowledge -- they were obtained without Flora's knowledge via a police warrant. As Judge Kessler found, there was no attorney-client conflict, Flora had nothing to do with the State's actions. The court cannot be considered to have erred because (1) Townsel's claim that Flora had a conflict is not supported by the record and (2) the court gave Townsel the opportunity to articulate whether there was some other conflict that existed. Townsel failed to do so.

To this Court, Townsel does not acknowledge June 11th hearing.

Instead, he claims the court erred in denying his motion to substitute counsel that occurred on June 20. There are multiple problems with this claim.

First, Townsel did not make a motion to substitute counsel on

June 20; he requested a "Garcia" hearing, a hearing to determine whether he
was willing to waive a known conflict of interest, but known existed.

Second, in his "Garcia" hearing request, Townsel asserted that Flora faced an "ethical dilemma," that he had "divided loyalties," and that the conflict of interest was "well documented." However, as the court noted, Townsel provided no facts, just conclusory statements.

Third, any claim based on an alleged breakdown in communication cannot prevail because any breakdown was caused by the intentional and deliberate acts of Townsel himself. Townsel did not get what he wanted on June 11 so he refused to cooperate with his counsel.²¹ Despite Townsel's actions, counsel at all times acted professionally and with Townsel's best interests in vigorously trying the case. See Stenson, at 724 (in reviewing an alleged conflict, along with looking at the nature and extent of the breakdown in communication, the court will analyze the breakdown's effect on the representation that the client actually received).

²¹ At sentencing, Townsel admitted that his actions were deliberate and intended to create an appellate issue, stating that "I feel that these were the actions that needed to be taken so that I did have some type of fair trial or at least a chance later on, you know, during your appellate courts." 9/28/12 RP 23.

Fourth, Townsel did not raise a motion to substitute counsel until the eve of trial. Any substitution would have required a lengthy continuance, a problematic proposition considering the fragile nature of RO and the multiple medical personnel that were going to be called as witnesses.

On appeal, Townsel does not identify any specific set of facts demonstrating a conflict of interest that would justify finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to substitute counsel.

Instead, he suggest that the trial court was required to *sua sponte* conduct a closed-door hearing to hear what grievances Townsel might have had, and because the court did not do so, his conviction must be reversed. This argument fails for multiple reasons.

In determining whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying a defendant's motion to substitute counsel, one of the factors a reviewing court will look at is the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry.

Cross, at 607; Varga, at 200. However, there is no requirement that a trial court *sua sponte* conduct a closed hearing. "[A] trial court conducts an adequate inquiry by allowing the defendant and counsel to express their concerns fully...Formal inquiry is not always essential where the defendant states his reasons for dissatisfaction on the record." Schaller, at 271.

While there may be cases where such an inquiry is necessary, the trial court's duty is to conduct an appropriate inquiry based on the facts

before it so that the court has a sufficient basis to reach an informed decision. State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 462, 290 P.3d 996 (2012), rev. denied, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013). Summarily denying a defendant's motion to substitute counsel without first informing itself of the facts is an abuse of discretion. State v. Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 755, 766, 904 P.2d 1179 (1995).

Here, the court did not summarily deny Townsel's motion. The court gave Townsel ample opportunity to express the reasons why he wanted new counsel. None was provided.

Finally, if the relationship between counsel and client "completely collapses," the refusal to substitute new counsel violates a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Stenson, at 722-23. When this happens, where the breakdown rises to such a level that it amounts to a "complete denial of counsel," no prejudice need be shown. Id. (citing Moore, at 1158). But where the facts do not show a complete denial of counsel, prejudice will not be presumed. Stenson, at 732. After all, the purpose of providing counsel is to ensure defendants receive a fair trial, thus, the appropriate inquiry focuses on the adversarial process, not on the accused's relationship with his lawyer. Stenson, at 725.

Similarly, where the claim is that there has been a "peremptory denial" of a motion for new counsel, the question is whether counsel's

performance actually violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. <u>Lopez</u>, 79 Wn. App. 767 (citing <u>United States v. Morrison</u>, 946 F.2d 484, 499 (7th Cir.1991)). Therefore, under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1964), a defendant "must demonstrate that the performance of the attorney he was saddled with was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases, and that but for counsel's deficiencies, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Morrison</u>, at 499 (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694); <u>Lopez</u>, at 767.

Townsel's attorney performed admirably, especially considering the difficult position Townsel placed him. Townsel cannot show prejudice from the court's decision to deny his motion to substitute counsel.

2. TOWNSEL HAS FAILED TO PROVE THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT OR THAT HIS CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED.

Townsel contends that the prosecutor committed such flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct that his conviction must be reversed -- even though he never raised an objection below. Townsel contends the prosecutor committed misconduct by trivializing the burden of proof, denigrating defense counsel and the right to put on a defense, appealing to the jurors' sympathy, and expressing his personal opinion. Townsel's claim is without merit. Townsel cannot show that the prosecutor committed

misconduct, cannot show why his failure to object should be excused, and cannot show prejudice.

The law governing claims of misconduct is well-settled. When a defendant alleges that the prosecutor's arguments prejudiced his right to a fair trial, he bears the heavy burden of establishing both (1) the impropriety of the prosecutor's arguments and (2) that there was a "substantial likelihood" that the challenged comments affected the verdict. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). The prejudicial effect of the prosecutor's alleged improper comments is not determined by looking at the comments in isolation but by placing the remarks in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury. State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006). When there is a failure to object below, a defendant carries an additional burden. Absent a proper objection and a request for a curative instruction, the issue is waived unless the comment was so flagrant or ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have obviated the resulting prejudice. State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009), rev. denied, 170 Wn.2d 1002 (2010).

a. The Failure To Prove Prejudice.

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